AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS

OF

Wiki Education Foundation A Delaware Non-Stock, Non-Profit Corporation

Effective as of November 16, 2014

ARTICLE I Identification and Offices

Section 1. NAME AND REGISTERED OFFICE. The name of the corporation is Wiki Education Foundation (the "<u>Corporation</u>"). The address of the registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, County of New Castle, 19801. The name of its registered agent at that address is The Corporation Trust Company.

Section 2. OTHER OFFICES. The Corporation may also have other offices at such other places, both within and without the State of Delaware, as the board of directors of the Corporation (the "<u>Board</u>") may from time to time determine or the business of the Corporation may require.

ARTICLE II <u>Purposes</u>

Section 1. PURPOSES. The purposes of the Corporation as stated in the Certificate of Incorporation are the following:

- (a) The Corporation is organized and will be operated exclusively for educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "<u>Code</u>").
- (b) The Corporation will support innovative uses of and content creation for Wikipedia and related projects in communities of teaching, learning and inquiry by encouraging collaboration among Wikipedia editors, educators, researchers and students. The Corporation will enhance information fluency, improve the breadth, scope, and quality of Wikimedia content and increase the number and diversity of contributors to the free knowledge movement.

(c) Subject to the foregoing, the Corporation may engage in any lawful act or activity in furtherance of its stated educational purposes, or any other activities for which a charitable non-stock corporation may be organized under the General Corporation Law of Delaware (the "<u>DGCL</u>").

Section 2. LIMITATIONS. No part of the net earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to members of the Board, or the Corporation's members or officers, or other private persons, except that the Corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth in Section 1 hereof. No part of the activities of the Corporation will involve attempts to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise, nor will the Corporation participate or intervene in any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office. Notwithstanding any other provision of these By-Laws, the Corporation shall not carry on any other activities not permitted to be carried on (a) by a corporation exempt from federal income tax under section 501(c)(3) of the Code, or the corresponding section of any future federal tax code or (b) by a corporation, contributions to which are deductible under section 170(c)(2) of the Code, or the corresponding section of any future federal tax code.

ARTICLE III <u>Members</u>

Section 1. ELECTION AND QUALIFICATION. The Corporation shall be a membership corporation. The members of the Corporation shall be those persons who serve from time to time as members of the Board of the Corporation (hereinafter, the "<u>Members</u>"). A Member shall automatically cease to be a Member at such time as he or she shall cease to be a member of the Board, without the necessity of any action by the Member or by the Corporation.

Section 2. VOTING. A vote on any matter by the Board also shall constitute a vote of the Members of the Corporation if such matter is required to be voted upon by the Members by law, the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation, or these By-Laws.

ARTICLE IV The Board

Section 1. NUMBER, ELECTION. The number of directors shall not be less than seven (7) nor more than fifteen (15), the exact number of which shall initially be fixed by the Incorporator and thereafter from time to time by the Board of Directors. Directors shall be elected by a majority vote at the Board's annual meeting (the "<u>Annual Meeting</u>"), subject to Section 2 below, or as soon thereafter as conveniently possible by the directors, each acting in their capacity as a Member. The Board shall elect the directors from

candidates nominated by a nominating committee (the "<u>Nominating Committee</u>"). In selecting certain candidates, the Nominating Committee shall consult with important stakeholder communities.

Section 2. TERM AND CLASSIFICATION. The directors shall be divided into three classes, designated Class I, Class II and Class III. Each class shall consist, as nearly as may be possible, of one-third of the total number of directors constituting the entire Board. The initial division of the Board into classes shall be made by the decision of the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Board. The term of the initial Class I directors shall terminate on the date of the 2015 Annual Meeting; the term of the Class II directors shall terminate on the date of the 2016 Annual Meeting; and the term of the initial Class III directors shall terminate on the date of the 2017 Annual Meeting or, in each case, upon such director's earlier death, resignation or removal. At each succeeding Annual Meeting beginning in 2015, successors to the class of directors whose term expires at that Annual Meeting shall be elected for a three-year term and until their successors are duly elected and qualified. If the number of directors is changed, any increase or decrease shall be apportioned among the classes so as to maintain the number of directors in each class as nearly equal as possible, and any additional director of any class elected to fill a vacancy resulting from an increase in such class or from the removal from office, death, disability, resignation or disgualification of a director or other cause shall hold office for a term that shall coincide with the remaining term of that class, but in no case will a decrease in the number of directors have the effect of removing or shortening the term of any incumbent director. A director shall not serve more than three (3) consecutive three- (3-) year terms, provided, however, that a director who is serving as an officer of the Corporation as of the date on which their term expires may serve as a director for an additional term.

Section 3. DUTIES AND POWERS. Subject to the limitations of the Certificate of Incorporation and other sections of these By-Laws, all corporate powers of the Corporation shall be exercised by or under the authority of, and the business and affairs of the Corporation shall be controlled by, the Board.

Section 4. COMMITTEES. The Board may from time to time appoint committees and may assign to such committees such advisory or other functions as it may deem advisable.

Section 5. MEETINGS. The Annual Meeting of the Board shall be held in June of each year, or as soon thereafter as is convenient as determined by the Chair, at such place as may be selected by the Chair, for the purpose of electing or appointing directors and officers for the ensuing year and for the transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting. Special meetings of the Board may be called at any time by the Chair and shall be called by the Chair at the request of any two directors. Special meetings may be held at such place and at such time as shall be specified in the notice of meeting. The Chair shall preside over meetings of the Board and the Secretary or another person chosen by the Chair shall act as Secretary of any meeting.

Section 6. NOTICE. Notice of the time and place of meetings of the Board shall be communicated to each director by telephone, electronic mail, facsimile transmission, or mail, or personally delivered to each director, charges prepaid, addressed to him or her at his or her address as shown by the records of the Corporation. If notice is mailed, it shall be deposited in the U.S. mail at least one (1) week prior to the date of the meeting. If notice is delivered personally or communicated by telephone, electronic mail, or facsimile, it shall be delivered or communicated at least three (3) business days prior to the date of the meeting. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any meeting of the Board need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting, unless specifically required by law or these By-Laws.

Section 7. QUORUM AND VOTE. At each meeting of the Board, or any committee thereof, one-half of the directors of the Board or committee, as applicable, then in office will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and, except as otherwise required by applicable law or these By-Laws, all matters shall be decided by the vote of a majority of the directors present and the act of such majority shall be the action of the Board. If a quorum is not present, those directors present at the time and place set for a meeting of the Board may take an adjournment from time to time, without further notice, until a quorum shall be present.

Section 8. PARTICIPATION BY TELEPHONE. Any one or more members of the Board or of a committee thereof may participate in a meeting of the Board or the committee by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment allowing all persons participating in the meeting to hear each other at the same time. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

Section 9. RESIGNATION. Any Director may resign at any time by giving electronic or other written notice to the Chair. A resignation need not be accepted by the Chair to be effective. A director may be removed, with or without cause, at an annual, regular, or special meeting of the Board by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office. The notice of any such annual, regular, or special meeting shall set forth the proposal to remove such director.

Section 10. VACANCIES. Any vacancy on the Board that results from an increase in the number of directors may be filled by a majority of the Board then in office, provided that a quorum is present, and any other vacancy occurring on the Board may be filled by a majority of the Board then in office, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. Any director of any class elected to fill a vacancy resulting from an increase in the number of directors of such class shall hold office for a term that shall

coincide with the remaining term of that class. Any director elected to fill a vacancy not resulting from an increase in the number of directors shall have the same remaining term as that of his or her predecessor.

Section 11. COMPENSATION. Directors shall not receive salaries for their services as directors, but by resolution of the Board, expenses of attendance, if any, may be paid to a director for each annual, regular, or special meeting of the Board that he or she attends. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to preclude any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving reasonable compensation therefor.

Section 12. ACTION WITHOUT MEETING. Any action required by law or these By-Laws to be taken at a meeting of the Board or any committee of the Board may be taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board or the committee consent in writing to the adoption of a resolution authorizing the action.

ARTICLE V Advisory Board

Section 1. ADVISORY BOARD. The Board may designate one or more advisory boards (each, an "<u>Advisory Board</u>"). An Advisory Board will consist of persons who are interested in the purposes and principles of the Corporation. Each Advisory Board and each member thereof will serve at the pleasure of the Board. Any vacancy in an Advisory Board may be filled and any member of the Advisory Board may be removed, either with or without cause, by the Board. Advisory Boards will advise the Board as to any matters designated by the Board. An Advisory Board will not have or purport to exercise any powers of the Board or act on behalf of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VI Officers

Section 1. ELECTION AND QUALIFICATION. A Chair, Secretary and Treasurer shall be elected by a majority vote at the Board's Annual Meeting, beginning with the 2016 Annual Meeting. Any such office not filled at the Annual Meeting or adjournment thereof may be filled by the Board at any meeting. The Board may, at any meeting by resolution, elect and define the duties of such other officers as it may from time to time determine. All officers shall hold office at the pleasure of the Board.

Section 2. TERM. The term for each officer in office as of the date hereof shall expire on the date of the 2016 Annual Meeting. Officers shall be elected for a two-year term and until their successors are duly elected and qualified. An officer may serve two (2) or more consecutive terms.

1009508.02-CHISR02A - MSW

Section 2. RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL. An officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chair. The acceptance of such resignation, unless required by the terms thereof, shall not be required to make the resignation effective. Any officer may be removed by the vote of a majority of the Board, either with or without cause.

Section 3. VACANCIES. A vacancy in any office may be filled for the unexpired portion of the term by the Board at any meeting.

Section 4. CHAIR. The Chair shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and shall have general supervision over the business of the Corporation and over any of its officers and staff. The Chair may, under the direction of the Board, act for them as they deem appropriate and shall perform such other duties as shall be required by the Board.

Section 5. SECRETARY. The Secretary shall take and keep true minutes of all meetings of the Board or its committees or shall delegate such task to other attendees of such meetings. The Secretary shall notify directors of their election; shall, under the general direction of the Chair, prepare and present the business to be acted upon at meetings of the Board or its committees and shall in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary. In addition, the Secretary shall maintain the Corporation's books and records and publish such materials, as determined by the Board, on such electronic platforms designated by the Board and perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the Chair from time to time.

Section 6. TREASURER. The Treasurer shall in general perform all the duties incident to the office of Treasurer: the Treasurer shall have the custody of the funds and securities of the Corporation, shall be in charge of the disbursement of its money, and shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation; shall exhibit such books of accounts and records at the office of the Corporation to any of the directors at any time upon request and shall render a detailed statement to the directors as often as they shall require it; shall deposit the funds of the Corporation in such banks or trust companies as may from time to time be designated by the Board, and shall deposit any securities of the Corporation with such banks or trust companies or in such vault or vaults as may from time to time be designated by the Board. The withdrawal of such funds or securities shall be made only on the signature or signatures of such one or more of the directors, officers or employees of the Corporation as may be designated from time to time by the Board for such purpose.

ARTICLE VII <u>Staff</u> 6

Section 1. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR. The Board may employ an Executive Director who will be charged with the administrative and executive management of the affairs of the Corporation and such other powers and the performance of such other duties as the Board may delegate, subject to oversight by the Board.

Section 2. ADDITIONAL PERSONNEL. From time to time, the Board may employ such other staff personnel with such titles as the Board will determine according to available administrative funds and needs of the Corporation, and subject to approval by the Board

Section 3. COMPENSATION. The Board, or any compensation committee thereof, will establish reasonable compensation and benefits for the Executive Director. The Executive Director will not participate in the discussions and deliberations of, and the voting on, his or her compensation. The Board may from time to time establish the rate of compensation and benefits for any additional staff personnel of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VIII Execution of Instruments

Section 1. CONTRACTS AND INSTRUMENTS. The Board, subject to the provisions of this Article VII, may authorize any officer or officers or agent or agents of the Corporation to enter into any contract or to execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation. Such authority may be general or may be confined to specific instances.

Section 2. DEPOSITS. Funds of the Corporation may be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation with the depositories that are selected by the Board.

Section 3. ORDERS FOR THE PAYMENT OF MONEY AND ENDORSEMENT FOR DEPOSIT. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes, or acceptances issued in the name of the Corporation will be signed by the director or directors or officer or officers or agent or agents of the Corporation authorized, and in the manner determined, from time to time by resolution of the Board. Endorsements for deposit to the credit of the Corporation in any of its authorized depositories may be made, without countersignature, by any officer of the Corporation or may be made by handstamped impression in the name of the Corporation, unless otherwise provided by resolution of the Board.

ARTICLE IX Miscellaneous

Section 1. FISCAL YEAR. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be fixed by the Board.

Section 2. BOOKS AND RECORDS. The Corporation shall keep correct and accurate minutes of the proceedings of the Board and committees having any of the authority for the Board. The Corporation shall also keep the original copy of these By-Laws, including all amendments and alterations there to date. Such books and records may be kept outside the State of Delaware at such place or places as may be designated from time to time by the Board.

Section 3. WAIVER. Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of applicable law, or under the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, a waiver thereof, in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the required notice. Attendance by a person at a meeting of the Board shall be deemed a waiver of notice of such meeting, unless such appearance is for the sole purpose of objecting to the meeting.

ARTICLE X Amendments

Section 1. AMENDMENTS. The Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws of the Corporation may be amended, revised or repealed (i) at any meeting of the Board, by the affirmative vote of the majority of directors then in office, provided, however, that written notice of the proposed amendment or repeal has been contained in the notice of the meeting; or (ii) by unanimous written consent of the Board.

ARTICLE XI Indemnification and Insurance

Section 1. RIGHT TO INDEMNIFICATION. The Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as it presently exists or may hereafter be amended, any person (a "Covered Person") who was or is made or is threatened to be made a party or is otherwise involved in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a "Proceeding"), by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director or officer of the Corporation or, while a director or officer, employee or agent of another corporation or of a partnership, joint venture, trust, enterprise or nonprofit entity (an "Other Entity"), against all liability and loss suffered and expenses (including attorneys' fees) reasonably incurred by such Covered Person in

1009508.02-CHISR02A - MSW

defending a Proceeding. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, except as otherwise provided in Section 3 of this Article X, below, the Corporation shall be required to indemnify a Covered Person in connection with a Proceeding (or part thereof) commenced by such Covered Person only if the commencement of such Proceeding (or part thereof) by the Covered Person was authorized by the Board.

Section 2. PREPAYMENT OF EXPENSES. The Corporation shall pay the expenses (including attorneys' fees) reasonably incurred by a Covered Person in defending any Proceeding in advance of its final disposition; provided, however, that, to the extent required by applicable law, such payment of expenses in advance of the final disposition of the Proceeding shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking by the Covered Person to repay all amounts advanced if it should be ultimately determined that the Covered Person is not entitled to be indemnified under this Article XI or otherwise.

Section 3. CLAIMS. If a claim for indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Article X is not paid in full within thirty (30) days after a written claim therefor by the Covered Person has been received by the Corporation, the Covered Person may file suit to recover the unpaid amount of such claim and, if successful in whole or in part, shall be entitled to be paid the expense of prosecuting such claim. In any such action the Corporation shall have the burden of proving that the Covered Person is not entitled to the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses under applicable law.

Section 4. NONEXCLUSIVITY OF RIGHTS. The rights conferred on any Covered Person by this Article X shall not be exclusive of any other rights that such Covered Person may have or hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation, these By-Laws, agreement, vote of disinterested directors or otherwise.

Section 5. OTHER SOURCES. The Corporation's obligation, if any, to indemnify or to advance expenses to any Covered Person who was or is serving at its request as a director, officer, employee or agent of an Other Entity shall be reduced by any amount such Covered Person may collect as indemnification or advancement of expenses from such Other Entity.

Section 6. INSURANCE. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any Covered Person against any liability asserted against such Covered Person, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify the Covered Person against that liability under the provisions of this Article or otherwise.

Section 7. AMENDMENT OR REPEAL. Any repeal or modification of the foregoing provisions of this Article X shall not adversely affect any right or protection

hereunder of any Covered Person in respect of any act or omission occurring prior to the time of such repeal or modification.

Section 8. BAD FAITH. No indemnification will be made to or on behalf of a Covered Person if such Covered Person is adjudged in the Proceeding to be liable for intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law in the performance of his or her duties or for any transaction from which the Covered Person derived an improper personal benefit.

Section 9. OTHER INDEMNIFICATION AND PREPAYMENT OF EXPENSES. This Article X shall not limit the right of the Corporation, to the extent and in the manner permitted by applicable law, to indemnify and to advance expenses to persons other than Covered Persons when and as authorized by appropriate corporate action.

ARTICLE XII Dissolution

Section 1. DISSOLUTION. Upon the dissolution of the Corporation, any assets remaining after paying or providing for all debts and obligations of the Corporation shall be distributed to one or more organizations then exempt from federal income tax by reason of being described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, or the corresponding section of any future federal tax code, to be selected by the Corporation, subject to the restriction that no distribution will be made which would subject the Corporation or any of its members to any termination tax.